**RECEIVED**

**Jul 03 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY  
Court of General Session

Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No.: 2023-000501

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

SCOTTY JOE FOWLER,

APPELLANT.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

TRISTAN M. SHAFFER  
P.O. Box 1135  
Irmo, SC 29063  
(803) 626-0188

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Trial Court err in failing to direct a verdict for the offenses of Attempted Murder and Possession of a Weapon During the Commission of a Violent Crime?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Greenwood County Grand Jury for Attempted Murder and Possession of a Weapon During the Commission of a Violent Crime. ROA 507-510. On February 27, 2023, Appellant was called to trial before the Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr. and a jury. ROA 1. Appellant was represented by Stephen Geoly and Tristan Shaffer. ROA 1. The State was represented by Madison Hoffman and Micah Black. ROA 1.

At the conclusion of the trial, Appellant was found guilty of both offenses. ROA 483. Appellant was sentenced to 15 years for attempted murder and a consecutive 5 years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent offense. ROA 498, ll. 10-17.

Appellant filed a timely Motion to Reconsider the Sentence. ROA 511-513. This motion was denied in a written order dated March 21, 2023. ROA 518-519.

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

### I. The Trial Court erred in failing to direct a verdict for the offenses of Attempted Murder and Possession of a Weapon During the Commission of a Violent Crime.

#### **Relevant Facts**

On the night of April 13, 2021, Lesa Speir came home to the property she shared with Scotty Fowler and Joey Matthews, to find Scotty frantically yelling, “Mama, Mama, call 911. Joye’s been accidentally shot” ROA 144, l. 12—145, l.4. Scotty told Lesa he could not find his phone and to call 911. ROA 145, ll. 5-11.

When law enforcement arrived on the scene, Scotty was trying to provide lifesaving measures to Joye. ROA 71, ll. 18-26. Joye had been shot in the head. Scotty informed law enforcement that the firearm accidentally discharged after hitting a coffee table. ROA 63, ll. 1-15; States Exhibit 2.

Joye survived the gunshot wound but could not remember the shooting. ROA 107, ll. 19-19. She testified that the last thing she remembered was riding the motorcycle with Scotty earlier that day. ROA 107, ll. 25. She said that at that time her and Scotty “were getting along.” ROA 125, ll. 24-25.

Scotty and Joye had a tumultuous relationship. Scotty was known to carry a gun and shoot it around the property. Joye testified that in the afraid of him. Although they were getting along on the day of the shooting, she also testified at trial in the days leading up to shooting he had threatened the kill her if she left him. ROA 113, l. 19—114, l. 3. Additionally, Joye testified that Scotty had previously put a gun to her head. ROA 124, ll. 11-13. However, Joye did not recall any argument immediately prior to the shooting. ROA 114, ll. 5-10.

Scotty was ultimately charged with Attempted Murder and Possession of a Weapon During the Commission of a Violent Crime. ROA 507-510.

At trial, the State called neurosurgeon, Dr Charles Kanos, to testify concerning Joye's wounds. Dr. Kanos would testify that the bullet entered the left frontal part of the head and had a downward trajectory. ROA 194, ll. 4-11; 202, ll. 23-25.

At the conclusion of the State's case, Appellant moved for a directed verdict. ROA 394, l. 9—400, l. 18. Appellant argued that there was insufficient evidence to proceed forward on either charge. Appellant argued both that there was no evidence of an assault nor was there any evidence of specific intent to kill. ROA 394, ll. 9-22; 397, ll. 8-15. Appellant argued that establishing that a defendant lied is insufficient to prove he participated in a crime.

The State responded by arguing that the bullet's trajectory was downward which did not support the statement made by Appellant at the scene. ROA 397, l. 19—398, l. 4. The State also argued that the prior threats and incident where Scotty allegedly put a gun to Joye's head was sufficient evidence to go forward. ROA 398, ll. 5-23.

The Court ruled with the following explanation:

Well, I do believe that there is sufficient circumstantial evidence to warrant submitting this matter to the jury not only for the reasons stated by the solicitor but the testimony of the last witness about his efforts to get the gun to accidentally fire. I mean, at this stage, the only thing -- the only evidence that's been presented is the defendant's statement that the firearm fell off a -- fell out of his pocket, struck a coffee table, and then discharged, or, in the alternative, that it fell off an entertainment center and struck the floor and, presumably discharged. Essentially, the most recent testimony excludes the possibility of the gun accidentally discharging in the way described by the defendant in his statements to the police. Additionally, the testimony from the neurosurgeon indicates that the wound -- the direction of the wound was basically a 40-degree angle from the top left side of Ms. Matthew's head to the lower right side around just above the temple. That would indicate a downward trajectory as opposed to something that would be moving upward from the floor. So based on the physical evidence and the testimony or the evidence today, the Court would conclude that there is sufficient circumstantial evidence taken together to warrant sending this case to the jury."

ROA 398, l. 24—399, l. 23. The Court further stated:

And I understand your position that lying, in and of itself, is probably insufficient to maybe establish substantial circumstantial evidence, but I'm taking everything together: the threats that were made the previous day, the defendant's statement in the video that they had a little bit of a tiff earlier in the day, the nature of your client changing his story. I know that you alluded in opening that he was lying to the police initially. I understand that the defense in this case is going to be that the injury was inflicted essentially by Ms. Matthews' own hand. But I do think that there is sufficient circumstantial evidence to warrant this case moving forward. And as it relates to the specific intent to kill, the same evidence that supports the Court submitting this to the jury on a circumstantial evidence basis supports sending this to the jury and a finding that the jury could reasonably conclude that he specifically intended to kill Ms. Matthews. That's my position.

ROA 401, ll. 5-23.

Appellant elected not to present a case and renewed its directed verdict motion. ROA 404, ll. 1-16.

### **Argument**

On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, this Court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. *State v. Lollis*, 343 S.C. 580, 583, 541 S.E.2d 254, 256 (2001) (citing *State v. Burdette*, 335 S.C. 34, 46, 515 S.E.2d 525, 531 (1999)). The defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to produce evidence of the offense charged. *State v. McHoney*, 344 S.C. 85, 97, 544 S.E.2d 30, 36 (2001). Directed verdict should be granted “when the evidence merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty. *State v. Arnold*, 361 S.C. 386, 390, 605 S.E.2d 529, 531 (2004).

In *State v. Odems*, 395 S.C. 582, 720 S.E.2d.48 (2011), the South Carolina Supreme Court reversed a conviction based on the State’s failure to present substantial circumstantial evidence when only the following facts were presented:

- 1) that less than ninety minutes after the burglary, police located the defendant in the get-away car with the burglars and the stolen goods;
- 2) the defendant fled from law enforcement; and

3) the defendant asked an uninvolved person to lie to the authorities on his behalf.

*Id.* at 588, 720 S.E.2d at 51.

In *Arnold*, the South Carolina Supreme Court found the circumstantial evidence to be insufficient to convict the defendant despite the following evidence:

- 1) The victim was killed in South Carolina and the victim's car was found in Tennessee;
- 2) Defendant's fingerprint was found in the victim's vehicle; and
- 3) The Defendant was found near to be staying in Tennessee.

*State v. Arnold*, 361 S.C. 386, 390, 605 S.E.2d 529, 531 (2004).

In the present case, there was not substantial circumstantial evidence of guilt. The mere fact that the story told by Scotty was not supported by physical evidence is not itself sufficient to find that he shot Joye with the specific intent to kill. *See Odems, supra*. Although the State brought up prior threats allegedly made by Scotty, they provided no evidence tying those threats to the shooting that night. To the contrary, to the best of Joye's recollection the couple was "getting along" on the day of the shooting. ROA 124, ll. 24-25.

In Sum, the Trial Court erred in failing to direct verdicts on both charges because in there was not direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence of either offense.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons Appellant respectfully requests that this Court reverse his convictions and sentences.