RECEIVED

Oct 18 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenwood County
Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2023-000501

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

SCOTTY JOE FOWLER

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 516
Greenwood, SC 29648
(864) 842-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The trial judge correctly declined to grant a directed verdict because the evidence and testimony presented during trial supported a rational and logical conclusion Appellant was guilty of all the required elements of attempted murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime.

Relevant Facts

Around 10:27 p.m. on April 13, 2021, Lesa Speir called 911 and reported she had just arrived home at her trailer located in a rural area of Greenwood. (R. p. 22; p. 45; p. 134; p. 146; State’s Ex. # 1 (911 Call Recording)). When she arrived there, Speir frantically explained her “godson”—Appellant—came running out of the trailer and said his girlfriend had been shot. (R. p. 27; State’s Ex. # 1). In response, the 911 operator quickly dispatched law enforcement officers and other emergency personnel to Speir’s residence. (R. pp. 24-25; State’s Ex. # 1).

While the first responders were on their way, the 911 operator continued talking to Speir to try to find out what had occurred and to provide instructions on how to assist the victim, Joye Matthews (“Victim”), until help could arrive. (R. p. 27; pp. 147-148; State’s Ex. # 1). During that conversation, Appellant—through Speir—alternately claimed either he dropped his gun or his gun fell when he was emptying out his pockets and “it” hit Victim. (State’s Ex. # 1). Appellant further claimed the shooting had just happened and Victim had been shot in the head above her temple. (State’s Ex. # 1).

Within minutes, Deputy Jacob Turner of the Greenwood County Sheriff’s Office arrived at the scene and quickly entered the trailer.¹ (R. pp. 43-45; p. 50; pp. 72-73; State’s Ex. # 2 (Body Camera Recording)). Inside, he found Victim lying on the floor near the trailer’s door with Appellant holding a cloth to the back of her head. (R. pp. 46-48; p. 71; State’s Ex. # 2). In

¹ By the time of Appellant’s trial, Deputy Turner was working for the Abbeville County Sheriff’s Office. (R. p. 43).

addition to that, he spotted a silver .22-caliber revolver a few feet away from Victim and a cell phone on the floor nearby. (R. p. 47; p. 57; p. 213; State’s Ex. # 2). At that point, Deputy Turner directed Appellant—who alleged to the deputy he dropped his gun, it struck the side of the coffee table, and it went off—to exit the trailer.² (R. pp. 46-47; p. 54; pp. 76-77; State’s Ex. # 2). Deputy Turner then began rendering aid to Victim until paramedics arrived. (R. pp. 46-47; State’s Ex. # 2).

A short time later, emergency medical personnel arrived at the scene and took over the provision of treatment to Victim. (R. pp. 29-30; p. 33). However, due to the life-threatening nature of Victim’s gunshot wound, the paramedics rapidly determined Victim needed to be transported from the scene for more advanced care, and she was swiftly taken to a hospital in Greenville via helicopter. (R. pp. 34-35; pp. 37-38; p. 40; p. 235).

Upon arriving at the hospital, Victim was rushed into surgery. (R. p. 175; pp. 177-178; pp. 186-187). At that time, Victim’s condition was dire, her level of brain functioning was very low, and her chances of survival were believed to be just 5%. (R. pp. 179-180; p. 196). Fortunately though, Victim miraculously survived. (R. p. 204).

Meanwhile, as Victim was being rushed to and receiving treatment at the hospital, the investigation into the shooting progressed at the scene, and, as part of it, Deputy Dawn McGuire from the Greenwood County Sheriff’s Office spoke with Appellant about what had supposedly occurred. (R. pp. 74-77; pp. 84-85; State’s Ex. # 3 (Body Camera Recording)). During their conversation, Appellant claimed he entered the trailer after smelling a “burn smell” and he emptied his pockets after encountering Victim inside. (R. p. 81; State’s Ex. # 3). At that point,

² Tellingly, there did not appear to be any marks or scuffs on the corner of the coffee table where the gun was supposedly dropped. (R. pp. 58-59).

Appellant repeated his earlier claim he dropped his revolver, the “hammer part” of the gun hit the corner of the table, and the gun fired, striking Victim. (R. p. 81; State’s Ex. # 3).

Notably, while providing his account to Deputy McGuire, Appellant physically gestured like the gun had fired *upward* into the air, and he further demonstrated removing the gun from his right pocket. (R. pp. 81-82; State’s Ex. # 3). However, the gun’s holster was in Appellant’s left pocket. (R. p. 82; State’s Ex. # 3). Upon realizing that, Appellant, who was right-handed, shifted his account and began claiming he had actually pulled the gun from his left pocket. (R. pp. 82-83; State’s Ex. # 3).

Later that night, Lieutenant Michael Murdock of the Greenwood County Sheriff’s Office had two separate conversations with Appellant about the shooting. (R. pp. 297-301). During the first, Appellant claimed he was in the living room with Victim, he went to take his gun out of his pocket to place it on the coffee table, the gun slipped when he did so, it discharged, and the bullet struck Victim.³ (R. p. 301). During the second, Appellant largely repeated his claim but, at one point, inconsistently asserted he was actually going to put the gun on the home’s entertainment center instead of the coffee table. (R. p. 301; p. 309; pp. 330-331). Moreover, Appellant was unable to provide clear explanations as to how the gun had struck the furniture or why the truck parked outside the trailer had its driver’s door open and lights on.⁴ (R. p. 61; p. 312; p. 319). Believing the provided account did not make sense, Lieutenant Murdock arrested Appellant in connection to the shooting. (R. p. 312).

³ As to why he was armed with a gun that night, Appellant claimed he had seen a roughly-one-foot-long black snake in the backyard. (R. p. 310; State’s Ex. # 3).

⁴ Notably, the truck’s key was in its ignition, a cell phone was resting on its driver’s seat, and there were three bags of clothing and other items positioned next to it. (R. pp. 239-241).

Following his arrest, Appellant was subsequently indicted for attempted murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and he elected to proceed forward to trial. (R. p. 2; pp. 507-510). During trial, the deputies and other personnel involved in the response to the shooting detailed what occurred that night, including concerning Appellant's accounts of how the shooting occurred. (R. pp. 29-89; pp. 206-219; pp. 233-283; pp. 297-331; pp. 333-351). Likewise, the 911 call recording, several body camera recordings depicting Appellant's various accounts of the shooting, numerous photographs from the crime scene, and scans showing Victim's extensive brain injuries were admitted into evidence and presented to the jury. (R. p. 23; pp. 51-52; pp. 78-79). In addition to that, testimony was presented establishing a DNA profile developed from a swab collected from the revolver's handle constituted a mixture from two individuals and, significantly, it was 14,000,000,000,000,000,000,000,000 times more likely if Victim and Appellant contributed to that mixture than if two unknown individuals had done so. (R. pp. 360-364).

Additionally, although unable to remember being shot due to her brain injuries, Victim testified about her relationship with Appellant along with what she could remember. (R. pp. 105-132). Specifically, Victim explained their relationship was *not* a "happy" or "good" one, they argued and fought on a daily basis, and she was frightened of Appellant. (R. pp. 108-109; p. 112; p. 120). Victim further explained Appellant "always" carried a gun and fired it frequently outside the home, including into the back of the trailer sometimes.⁵ (R. pp. 109-112). Importantly, Victim also recounted Appellant threatened her in the days leading up to the incident, directly stated to her he was *going to kill her*, and warned her no one could have her if

⁵ Multiple bullet holes were found in the trailer during the investigation into the shooting. (R. pp. 268-275).

he could not. (R. pp. 112-114). Similarly, Victim reported Appellant had put a gun to her head in the past.⁶ (R. p. 124).

Consistent with Victim's testimony, Speir confirmed Appellant and Victim frequently fought and argued with one another and Victim had grown to become terrified of him. (R. pp. 138-139). She further confirmed Appellant was routinely armed with a gun and regularly fired it around the residence. (R. p. 139; p. 141; p. 160). In addition to that, Speir verified she was not home at the time of the shooting and, instead, had been alerted of it by Appellant, who—when she arrived home that night—was sitting inside her truck *listening to music* with the engine running and the lights on, ran into the trailer through the back door when he witnessed her return, and then came back out the front door shouting about the “accidental” shooting.⁷ (R. pp. 142-145; pp. 153-154; p. 156; pp. 169-170).

Furthermore, Dr. Charles Kanos, the expert neurosurgery chief at the hospital in Greenville, recounted the details of his treatment of Victim after the shooting. (R. pp. 173-204). More specifically, Dr. Kanos explained he determined through his treatment the bullet entered Victim's skull near the top of her head roughly three inches above her left ear, travelled in a *downward* trajectory toward the back of her head, crossed through her brain's midline, and lodged in the right side of her brain, leaving bullet fragments along the way. (R. pp. 183-188; pp. 190-192; p. 197). As would be expected from such an occurrence, Dr. Kanos confirmed Victim was lucky to be alive and her injuries could have been fatal. (R. p. 196; p. 204). Moreover, he opined the damage to Victim's brain could result in speech and memory problems amongst other issues. (R. pp. 196-197).

⁶ According to Victim, Appellant had also put a gun to his own head at some point. (R. p. 124).

⁷ The truck at the scene belonged to Speir, but she indicated Appellant—and Victim—sometimes used it without her permission. (R. p. 144; p. 168).

Beyond that, Paul Greer, an expert firearm examiner from SLED, testified about his examination of the revolver with which Victim was shot. (R. p. 372; pp. 374-375). Greer explained that revolver was double-action and had an internal safety.⁸ (R. pp. 377-378; p. 387). Greer further explained he—as part of his examination of the gun—struck the revolver multiple times with a plastic-tipped mallet to see if it was possible to get it to fire without a trigger pull but was not able to fire it in that manner. (R. p. 386). Likewise, Greer indicated he also put the gun’s hammer in a cocked position and struck the back of the hammer with the plastic-tipped mallet. (R. pp. 386-387). Significantly, he explained he was able to get the gun’s hammer to fall by doing so but its internal safety prevented a shot from being fired. (R. p. 387). Thus, Greer confirmed a trigger pull was necessary for the revolver to be fired. (R. p. 387; p. 392).

Following the presentation of all that testimony and evidence, the solicitor rested the State’s case, and defense counsel promptly moved for a directed verdict. (R. pp. 393-394). As support for that motion, defense counsel argued the State had supposedly failed to produce substantial circumstantial evidence of Appellant’s guilt for attempted murder. (R. p. 394). More specifically, defense counsel—while citing to the unrelated appellate decisions in State v. Odems, 395 S.C. 582, 720 S.E.2d 48 (2011); State v. Arnold, 361 S.C. 386, 605 S.E.2d 529 (2004); and State v. Martin, 340 S.C. 597, 533 S.E.2d 572 (2000)—maintained all that had been presented was Appellant and Victim “had a hostile or not great relationship,” a gun was fired, and Appellant then lied about what had occurred, which he alleged was purportedly sufficient only to raise a mere suspicion of guilt. (R. pp. 394-396). Conversely, the solicitor contended the evidence and testimony presented demonstrated Appellant threatened to kill Victim in the days leading up to the shooting, had put a gun to her head in the past, and then provided a false

⁸ With a double-action revolver, the gun’s hammer can be cocked either manually or with a trigger pull. (R. pp. 377-378).

account of what occurred since his claim regarding the gun firing after being dropped was not possible and the bullet trajectory was inconsistent with what he claimed happened. (R. p. 398). Based on all that taken together, the solicitor argued what was presented was sufficient to require the submission of the case to the jury, including on the attempted murder charge. (R. p. 398).

Upon considering the arguments of counsel, the trial judge declined to grant a directed verdict. (R. pp. 398-399). In so declining, the trial judge concluded the physical evidence and testimony presented collectively constituted substantial circumstantial evidence warranting submission of the case to the jury. (R. pp. 398-399; p. 401). And, as support for his conclusion, the trial judge noted Appellant made threats toward Victim prior to the shooting and had then provided a demonstrably false and shifting account of how that shooting occurred. (R. pp. 401).

Following the trial judge's ruling, the defense rested without offering any testimony or evidence. (R. p. 405). Thereafter, the parties presented their closing arguments to the jury, and the trial judge instructed the jury on the applicable law.⁹ (R. pp. 407-480). The case was then submitted to the jury, and, after deliberating on the matter for just under an hour, the jury unanimously convicted Appellant as indicted. (R. pp. 482-483).

Subsequent to that, defense counsel moved for—amongst other things—a new trial. (R. pp. 511-513). In seeking such relief, defense counsel alleged “the evidence merely raised a suspicion that [Appellant] intentionally assaulted the alleged victim” and “there [wa]s absolutely no evidence of [Appellant]’s specific intent.” (R. p. 513). The State opposed the motion. (R. pp. 514-517). After considering the matter, the trial judge declined to grant a new trial while

⁹ As part of his jury instructions, the trial judge instructed the jury on the law of accident and specifically explained “[t]he burden [wa]s on the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the act was not an accident but was caused by an intentional act of the defendant.” (R. p. 475).

reaffirming his earlier ruling sufficient evidence was presented during trial to establish Appellant's guilt for the charged offenses. (R. pp. 518-519).

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, the appellate court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006). If there is any direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the appellate court must affirm the trial judge's ruling. State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 593-594, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004); see Cavazos v. Smith, 565 U.S. 1, 2 (2011) (“[I]t is the responsibility of the jury—not the court—to decide what conclusions should be drawn from evidence admitted at trial. A reviewing court may set aside the jury’s verdict on the ground of insufficient evidence only if no rational trier of fact could have agreed with the jury.”). In other words, “unless there is a total failure of evidence tending to establish the charge laid in the indictment, the trial judge’s ruling upon a motion for a directed verdict must stand absent an error of law.” State v. Nix, 288 S.C. 492, 496, 343 S.E.2d 627, 629 (Ct. App. 1986); see United States v. Ashley, 606 F.3d 135, 138 (4th Cir. 2010) (“Reversal for insufficient evidence is reserved for the rare case where the prosecution’s failure is clear.” (citation and internal quotations omitted)).

Analysis

When presented with a motion for a directed verdict challenging the sufficiency of the evidence presented, the question before the trial judge is simply whether any rational juror could find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt from the evidence viewed in a

light most favorable to the State. State v. Bennett, 415 S.C. 232, 237, 781 S.E.2d 352, 354 (2016); see Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319 (1979) (“[T]he relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, *any* rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.”). In resolving that question, the trial judge must be concerned solely with the existence or non-existence of evidence and is not permitted to personally weigh the evidence, decide credibility issues, or resolve conflicts in the testimony or evidence presented. Harvey v. Strickland, 350 S.C. 303, 308, 566 S.E.2d 529, 532 (2002); see State v. Franklin, 80 S.C. 332, ___, 60 S.E. 953, 955 (1908) (“The orderly administration of justice requires that all proper evidence should be admitted, and the jury must determine the facts, and testimony should be exceedingly clear and without contradiction where a circuit judge assumes to direct a verdict.”).

Significantly, if there is *any* direct or substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused or from which guilt may be fairly or logically deduced, the trial judge should deny a directed verdict motion and submit the case to the jury. State v. Robinson, 310 S.C. 535, 538, 426 S.E.2d 317, 319 (1992); see State v. Littlejohn, 228 S.C. 324, 329, 89 S.E.2d 924, 926 (1955) (“[O]n a motion for direction of verdict, the trial judge is concerned with the existence or non-existence of evidence, not with its weight; and, although he should not refuse to grant the motion where the evidence merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty, it is his duty to submit the case to the jury if there be any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused, or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.”). By doing so under such circumstances, the trial judge correctly avoids improperly encroaching upon the jury’s exclusive role to find the facts, weigh the evidence, evaluate witness credibility, determine what inferences should be drawn from the facts, and

resolve any evidentiary conflicts that may have arisen during trial. See Jackson, 443 U.S. at 319 (“[The directed verdict] standard gives full play to the responsibility of the trier of fact fairly to resolve conflicts in the testimony, to weigh the evidence, and to draw reasonable inferences from basic facts to ultimate facts.”); State v. Cheeks, 401 S.C. 322, 328, 737 S.E.2d 480, 484 (2013) (“It is always for the jury to determine the facts, and the inferences that are to be drawn from these facts.”).

In the case sub judice, Appellant contends the trial judge erred by refusing to grant a directed verdict as to both attempted murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. As support for that contention, Appellant—while primarily relying upon sufficiency-of-the-evidence findings in other unrelated cases¹⁰—maintains there supposedly “was not substantial circumstantial evidence of guilt” presented in his case because: (1) “[t]he mere fact that the story told by [him] was not supported by physical evidence [wa]s not itself sufficient to find that he shot [Victim] with specific intent to kill;” and (2) “[a]lthough the [S]tate brought up prior threats allegedly made by [him], they provided no evidence tying those threats to the shooting that night.” To the contrary, the evidence and testimony presented during trial—when viewed in a light most favorable to the State as required—reasonably tended to prove Appellant’s guilt for the indicted offenses of attempted murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. Therefore, the trial judge correctly declined to grant a directed verdict and properly submitted the case to the jury.

¹⁰ Notably, due the “necessarily fact-intensive” nature of a directed verdict analysis, our Supreme Court has recognized appellate holdings on directed verdict issues generally “are limited to their peculiar facts.” See Bennett, 415 S.C. at 237 n. 1, 781 S.E.2d at 354 n. 1 (“Bennett argues the evidence in his case is more tenuous than in State v. Arnold, 361 S.C. 386, 605 S.E.2d 529 (2004), and State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 708 S.E.2d 774 (2011), where this Court reversed the denials of a directed verdict. We recognize in this area of ever-evolving jurisprudence our inquiry is necessarily fact-intensive; therefore, the holdings in those cases are limited to their peculiar facts.”). Therefore, Appellant’s reliance on the unrelated cases is misplaced.

Demonstrating that fact, the evidence and testimony presented during trial indisputably established Victim was shot *in the head* with a gun during the incident, and, critically, the gun that fired the bullet into her head could *only* be fired with a pull of its trigger based on the expert testimony presented.¹¹ Thus, since the evidence and testimony presented supported a rational and logical conclusion whoever shot Victim in the head had to have done so in an intentional manner by pulling the trigger of the revolver, the jury could have reasonably inferred the shooting was committed with a specific intent to kill since such an act was one naturally tending to cause death. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-29 (“A person who, with intent to kill, attempts to kill another person with malice aforethought, either expressed or implied, commits the offense of attempted murder.”); State v. King, 422 S.C. 47, 55, 810 S.E.2d 18, 22 (2017) (concluding a specific intent to kill is an element of the statutory offense of attempted murder); State v. Sutton, 340 S.C. 393, 397 n. 5, 532 S.E.2d 283, 285 n. 5 (2000) (“A specific intent to kill may be, and normally is, inferred from the surrounding circumstances, such as the character of the attack, the use of a deadly weapon, and the nature and extent of the victim’s injuries.”); see also State v. Haney, 257 S.C. 89, 91, 184 S.E.2d 344, 345 (1971) (“Absent an admission by the defendant, proof of intent necessarily rests on inference from conduct.”); cf. Sharma v. State, 56 P.3d 868, 875 (Nev. 2002) (finding a jury instruction “directing the jury that a specific intent to kill may be inferred from an external circumstance, *i.e.*, the intentional use of a deadly weapon upon the person of another at a vital part” to be proper in an attempted murder case). Resultantly, sufficient evidence was presented during Appellant’s trial from which the jury could rationally and logically find Appellant guilty of all the required elements of attempted murder *if* Appellant was the one who shot Victim.

¹¹ In fact, fragments of the bullet itself were still inside Victim’s skull at the time of trial, and images were introduced into evidence depicting those fragments. (R. p. 184; pp. 191-192).

And, regarding Appellant’s identity as the person who shot Victim, substantial evidence was presented from which the jury could logically and rationally conclude he was, in fact, the shooter. First, Appellant—by his own admission—was present at the scene at the time of the shooting and was in possession of the revolver just before Victim was shot with it. See Commonwealth v. Boyd, 344 A.2d 864, 867 (Pa. 1975) (“[W]here it is established that the accused had sole control over the weapon at the time of its discharge and that the weapon was used upon a vital part of the body, a jury could properly infer malice sufficient to sustain the charge of murder.”). Second and more importantly, testimony was presented establishing Appellant had both personally threatened to kill Victim in the days leading up to the shooting *and* had actually put a gun to her head in the past, which—as has long been recognized—was powerful evidence of Appellant’s hostile state of mind and harmful intent concerning Victim. See Blakely v. State, 360 S.C. 636, 639, 602 S.E.2d 758, 759 (2004) (“It is *well-settled* that evidence of previous threats by the defendant is admissible to show malice.” (emphasis added)); State v. Lee, 255 S.C. 309, 316, 178 S.E.2d 652, 655 (1971) (“The general rule is that evidence of previous threats and hostile declarations by the accused against the deceased is admissible to show malice, premeditation and state of mind[.]”), overruled on other grounds by State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009); see also Castillo-Campos v. United States, 987 A.2d 476, 487 (D.C. 2010) (“Evidence that there was animosity between the accused and the victim and that the accused targeted the weapon at a particularly vulnerable area of the body is sufficient evidence for a jury to find all of the elements of [an offense requiring proof of an assault made with specific intent to kill.]”); cf. Thompson v. State, 757 S.E.2d 846, 851 (Ga. 2014) (“In this case, the evidence of Appellant’s prior terroristic threats against his mother was relevant to show his motive, intent, and bent of mind when he shot his mother in the back with a

crossbow, and to disprove his defense that it was an accident.”); State v. Haskins, 573 N.W.2d 39, 45 (Iowa Ct. App. 1997) (“Evidence that [Haskins] intentionally assaulted [the victim] during a previous argument tends to rebut his accidental shooting argument.”). Third and possibly most significantly, Appellant *immediately* after the shooting began providing a false account of how Victim had been shot that was demonstrably untrue in multiple respects based on the expert testimony presented, which constituted compelling evidence of Appellant’s consciousness of guilt and supported a conclusion he did *not* shoot Victim by accident as he had falsely claimed. See State v. Pittman, 137 S.C. 75, ___, 134 S.E. 514, 526-527 (1926) (recognizing guilt can properly be inferred from an act of uttering false exculpatory statements); Town of Hartsville v. Munger, 93 S.C. 527, 529, 77 S.E. 219, 219 (1913) (“False and conflicting statements . . . have *always* been regarded as some evidence of guilty knowledge and intent.” (emphasis added)); see also United States v. Sarli, 913 F.3d 491, 497 (5th Cir. 2019) (“As we have repeatedly stated, an implausible account provides persuasive circumstantial evidence of the defendant’s consciousness of guilt. A rational jury may infer from an implausible account of exculpatory events that the defendant desires to obscure his criminal responsibility.” (citations, brackets, internal quotations, and ellipses omitted)); State v. Robertson, 927 So. 2d 629, 636 (La. Ct. App. 2006) (recognizing the provision of various inconsistent statements about how a shooting occurred undercuts a claim the shooting was accidental); cf. People v. Helms, 272 N.E.2d 228, 231 (Ill. App. Ct. 1971) (“The fact that the only eye witness to the event, the Defendant, testifies concerning a misadventure does not require an acquittal. The self interest of the Defendant as a witness is obvious.” (citation omitted)); State v. Nance, 533 N.W.2d 557, 563 (Iowa 1995) (“The evidence as to how the gun ‘accidentally’ discharged could be rejected by the jury as a false story. The use of a false story could also be treated as an implied admission.”); People v.

Waugh, 592 N.Y.S.2d 789, 790 (N.Y. App. Div. 1993) (“The defendant’s testimony that the gun discharged accidentally and the conflicting expert testimony presented an issue of credibility for the jury[.]”); State v. Butler, 407 S.C. 376, 382, 755 S.E.2d 457, 460 (2014) (recognizing Butler’s “various, inconsistent accounts of how the stabbing occurred created credibility issues and questions of fact to be resolved by the jury”); Cantu v. State, 395 S.W.3d 202, 209 (Tex. App. 2012) (“The inconsistencies in Cantu’s statements could cause a rational juror to doubt the credibility of Cantu’s assertion that the gun discharged accidentally while he tried to take the gun from Jackie.”). In light of that, sufficient evidence was presented from which the jury could rationally and logically conclude Appellant was, in fact, the person who shot Victim in the head and, therefore, was guilty of her attempted murder.

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